IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. 91,193

Upon a Request from the Attorney General for an Advisory Opinion as to the Validity of an Initiative Petition

IN RE: ADVISORY OPINION TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL-FISH AND WILDLIFE CONSERVATION COMMISSION

INITIAL BRIEF OF FLORIDA WILDLIFE FEDERATION, FLORIDA AUDUBON SOCIETY, FLORIDA LEAGUE OF ANGLERS, COASTAL CONSERVATION ASSOCIATION-FLORIDA, FISH AND WILDLIFE CONSERVATION COMMITTEE, AND SIERRA CLUB, FLORIDA CHAPTER IN SUPPORT OF FISH AND WILDLIFE CONSERVATION COMMISSION INITIATIVE

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The above-captioned matter is before the Court upon an August 13, 1997 request from the Attorney General [App. 1-61, submitted in accordance with the provisions of Article IV, Section 10, Fla. Const. and § 16.061(1), Fla. Stat. (1996), for an advisory opinion as to the validity of an initiative petition circulated pursuant to Article XI, Section 3, Fla. Const.. The initiative petition [App. 7] proposes to amend Article IV, Section 9 of the Florida Constitution and thereby unify the Marine Fisheries Commission and the Game and Fresh Water Fish Commission to form the constitutionally chartered Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission.

The Attorney General seeks a determination as to whether the proposed amendment meets the "single-subject" requirement of Article XI, Section 3, Fla. Const. and the ballot title and summary requirements of § 101.161(1), Fla. Stat. The Attorney General has advised the Court that on August 4 1997, the Florida Secretary of State certified, pursuant to g15.21, Fla. Stat., by letter, that the proponents of the proposed Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission amendment had met the preliminary procedural requirements of § 15.21, Fla. Stat., for transmission to the Attorney General, and therefore the proposed amendment was ripe for evaluation by the Florida Supreme Court for compliance with Article XI, Section 3, Fla. Const., and § 101.161(1), Fla. Stat.

The Attorney General expressed the opinion that since the ballot title and summary of the proposed amendment "substantially advise

the voters of the chief purpose of the proposed amendment, they appear to satisfy the requirements of section 101.161, Fla. Stat." [App. 41 In light of the Court's advisory opinion in <u>Advisory</u> <u>Opinion to the Attorney General--Restricts Laws Related to</u> Discrimination, stating that:

to ascertain whether the necessary 'oneness' of purpose exists, we must consider whether the proposal affects separate functions of government and how the proposal affects other provisions of the constitution,

632 So. 2d 1018, 1020 (Fla. 1994), the Attorney General stated the following:

[t]he proposed amendment appears to embrace but one subject, i.e., the creation of a commission to conserve and manage marine, freshwater and wildlife resources of the state, and matters directly connected therewith.

[App.5].

а

а

On August 27, 1997, this Court issued an Interlocutory Order [App. 8-11] instructing interested parties as to the schedule for briefing and oral argument on the matter of whether the proposed amendment complies with Article XI, Section 3, Fla. Const. and whether the ballot title and summary meet the requirements of **\$101.161(1)**, Fla. Stat. Pursuant to that order, Florida Wildlife Federation, Florida Audubon Society, Florida League of Anglers, Coastal Conservation Association-Florida, Fish and Wildlife Conservation Committee, and Sierra Club, Florida Chapter submit, through undersigned counsel, this initial brief in support of the validity of the Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission initiative.

Florida Wildlife Federation, Florida Audubon Society, and Florida League of Anglers, and Coastal Conservation Association are all

Florida non-profit corporations whose purposes include education, study, recreation, and advocacy involving marine, fresh water and terrestrial wildlife resources in the state of Florida. The Sierra Club, Florida Chapter is a chapter of the Sierra Club, a non-profit California corporation, dedicated to education, study, recreation, and advocacy involving marine, fresh water and terrestrial wildlife resources in the state of Florida and elsewhere. The Coastal Conservation Association-Florida is a chapter of the Coastal Conservation Association, a non-profit Texas corporation whose purposes include education, study, recreation, and advocacy involving marine, fresh water and terrestrial wildlife resources in the state of Florida and elsewhere. The Fish and Wildlife Conservation Committee is the sponsoring organization for the proposed Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission Initiative before the Court in this matter. Consequently, the Florida Wildlife Federation, Florida Audubon Society, Florida League of Anglers, Coastal Conservation Association-Florida, Fish and Wildlife Conservation Committee, and Sierra Club, Florida Chapter are all interested parties with respect to the amendment of the Florida Constitution as it affects state regulation and management of aquatic life and terrestrial wildlife resources.

a

a

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

e

a

a

a

e

а

e

The only issues presented for resolution by this Court are whether the text of the proposed amendment initiative complies with the single-subject requirement and whether the ballot title and summary comply with the requirements of § 101.161(1), Fla. Stat. This Court should approve the validity of the proposed amendment initiative absent a showing that it is clearly and conclusively defective with regard to the single-subject rule or the ballot title and summary.

This proposed amendment manifestly complies with the singlesubject rule, which requires that the proposed amendment have a "logical and natural oneness of **purpose.**" The Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission Initiative plainly amends only one portion of the Constitution and in its functional effect, serves solely to expand the jurisdiction of the already constitutionally chartered Game and Fresh Water Fish Commission to include responsibility for marine aquatic life by merging the Game and Fresh Water Fish Commission with the Marine Fisheries Commission. Additionally, the proposed amendment does not constitute logrolling as it poses no policy dilemma for voters through the combination of multiple provisions. All elements of the proposed amendment relate to the implementation of the amendment's singular purpose of unifying state regulatory and executive authority over aquatic life and wild animal life in one agency.

The ballot title and summary meet both the word count limitations and the substantive requirements of § 101.161(1), Fla.

Stat. The summary is not misleading in its delivery of fair notice to the voters of the chief purpose and effects of the proposed amendment.

ARGUMENT

I. THE PROPOSED AMENDMENT INITIATIVE IS VALID AND MEETS THE REQUIREMENTS FOR PLACEMENT ON THE BALLOT

Pursuant to Article V, Section 3(b)(10) and Article IV, Section 10 of the Florida Constitution this Court has jurisdiction to render advisory opinions to the Attorney General for the purpose of evaluating the compliance of proposed amendments with the requirements of Article XI, Section 3 and §101.161(1), Fla. Stat. On August 13, 1997, the Attorney General petitioned this Court for an advisory opinion concerning an initiative petition to amend the Florida Constitution entitled "Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission: Unifies Marine Fisheries and Fresh Water Fish Commission," [hereinafter "the Initiative" or the "Proposed Amendment"]. The only issues for resolution in the above-captioned matter are those identified by this Court's Interlocutory Order of August 27, 1997, to wit: (i) the compliance of the Proposed Amendment with the single-subject requirement of Article XI, Section 3, and (2) the compliance of the Initiative with the ballot title and summary requirements of §101.161(1), Fla. Stat. See Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General re Stop Early Release of

Prisoners, 661 So. 2d 1204, 1206 (Fla. 1995); Advisorv Opinion to the Attornev General re Casino Authorization, Taxation, and Resulation, 656 So. 2d 466, 468 (Fla. 1995); Advisorv Opinion to the Attornev General re Funding For Criminal Justice, 639 So. 2d 972, 973 (Fla. 1993). In reviewing the validity of proposed amendments, this Court has affirmed that the Court must not intrude upon the right of the people to vote on a proposed amendment absent a showing that it is "clearly and conclusively defective." Askew v. Firestone, 421 So. 2d 151, 156 (Fla. 1982); Floridians Against Casino Takeover v. Let's Help Florida, 363 So. 2d 337, 339 (Fla. 1978); Weber v. Smathers, 338 So. 2d 819, 821 (Fla. 1976).

As this Court has often noted, this Court "has no authority to rule on the merits of a proposed amendment." <u>Advisorv Opinion to</u> <u>the Attornev General re Florida Locally Approved Gaming</u>, 656 So. 2d 1259, 1262 (Fla. 1995); <u>Advisorv Opinion to the Attornev General re</u> <u>Tax Limitation</u>, 644 So. 2d 486, 489 (Fla. 1994). Hence, neither the wisdom nor the draftsmanship of the Proposed Amendment are at issue before this Court. <u>See Weber</u>, 338 So. 2d at 822; <u>Advisorv</u> <u>Opinion to the Attornev General re Tax Limitation</u>, 644 So. 2d 486, 489 (Fla. 1994).

A. <u>The Proposed Amendment Complies with the Single-subject</u> <u>Requirement of Art. XI, Section 3, Fla. Const.</u>

Article XI, Section 3, Fla. Const. allows for the amendment of the constitution as follows:

The power to propose the revision or amendment of any portion or potions of this constitution by initiative is reserved to the people, provided that, any such revision or amendment

б

shall embrace but one subject and matter directly connected therewith.

To meet this constitutional limitation on the power to amend the constitution by initiative, the proposed amendment must "manifest **`a** logical and natural oneness of **purpose.'"** Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General--Fee on the Everalades Sugar Production, Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General--Everglades Trust Fund, Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General--Responsibility for Paying Costs of Water Pollution Abatement in the Everslades, 681 So. 2d 1124, 1127; Fine v. Firestone, 448 So. 2d 984, 990 (Fla. 1984). **"'Unity** of object and plan is the universal **test.'"** Florida Locally Approved Gaming, 656 So. 2d at 1263 (Fla. 1995) (quoting with approval <u>City of Coral Gables v. Gray</u>, 19 So. 2d 318, 320 (Fla. 1944)).

This Court has often characterized the single-subject requirement as:

a rule of restraint designed to guard against unbridled cataclysmic changes in Florida's Organic law, and "'logrolling,' a practice wherein several separate issues are rolled into a single initiative in order to aggregate votes or secure approval of an otherwise unpopular issue.

<u>Fee on Everslades Sugar Production</u>, 681 So. 2d at 1127; <u>see also</u>, <u>e.a.</u>, <u>In re Advisorv Opinion to the Attornev General--Save Our</u> <u>Everalades</u>, 636 So. 2d 1336, 1339 (Fla. 1994); <u>Fine v. Firestone</u>, 448 So. 2d at 993; <u>Tax Limitation</u>, 644 So. 2d at 490. The purpose of the single-subject requirement, as recognized by this Court, is the prevention of proposals of compound amendments with separate portions that force voters to accept a disfavored component in order to vote for a desired component. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Advisorv Opinion</u> to the Attornev General--Marine Net Fishing, 620 So. 2d 997, 999 (Fla, 1993); Advisorv Opinion to the Attornev General--Limited Political Terms in Certain Elective Offices, 592 So. 2d 225, 227 (Fla, 1991); Fine v. Firestone, 448 So. 2d 984, 988 (Fla, 1984).

As applied the single-subject test has been viewed functionally such that proposed amendments which "substantially alter or perform the functions of multiple branches of government" fail the test. <u>Save Our Everslades</u>, 636 So. 2d at 1340 (Fla. 1994); <u>Advisorv Opinion to Attornev General re Limited Casinos</u>, 64-So. 2d 71, 73 (Fla. 1994).

Application of the foregoing principles to the Proposed Amendment manifestly establishes that the Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission amendment passes the single-subject test. The complete text of the Proposed Amendment provides as follows:

Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission

e

e

e

- (a) The marine, freshwater and wildlife resources of the State of Florida belong to all of the people of the state and should be conserved and managed for the benefit of the state, its people and future generations.
- (i) There shall be a Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission composed of seven (7) members appointed by the Governor subject to confirmation by the Senate for staggered terms of five (5) years.

(2) Notwithstanding paragraph (b)(1), the initial members of the Commission shall be the members of the Game and Fresh Water Fish Commission and the Marine Fisheries Commission who are serving on either of those Commissions on the effective date of this amendment, who shall serve the remainder of their respective terms, and appointments to the Commission shall not be made unless and until all current terms of the members of the Game and Fresh water Fish Commission and the Marine Fisheries Commission have expired so that only seven (7) members of the Commission remain and, in that event, the governor shall appoint members of the Commission as the terms of the remaining seven (7) members expire.

- The Commission shall exercise the regulatory and (C) executive powers of the state with respect to wild animal life, freshwater aquatic life, and marine aquatic life, except that all license fees for taking wild animal life, freshwater aquatic life and marine aquatic life, and penalties for violating regulations of the Commission shall be prescribed by specific statute. The Commission shall not be a sub-unit of any other state agency and shall have its own staff which includes management, research, enforcement, and public information functions. The Legislature may enact laws in aid of the Commission, not inconsistent with this section. The Commission's exercise of executive powers in the area of planning, budgeting, personnel management and purchasing shall be as provided by law. Revenue derived from such license fees shall be appropriated to the Commission by the Legislature for the purpose of management, protection and conservation of wild animal life, freshwater aquatic life and marine aquatic life.
- (d) If any portion of this section is held invalid for any reason, the remaining portion of this section, to the fullest extent possible, shall be severed from the void portion and given the fullest possible force and application.
- (e) This amendment shall take effect on the July 1 next occurring after the approval hereof by vote of the electors of the State of Florida.

The Proposed Amendment manifestly fulfills the single-subject requirement as it has a natural oneness of purpose in the unification, in one Commission, of the regulatory and executive powers of the state concerning freshwater aquatic life, marine aquatic life, and wild animal life by expanding the jurisdiction of the present Game and Fresh Water Fish Commission. Indeed close comparison of Article IX, Section 9, Fla. Const. with the provisions of paragraph (c) of the Proposed Amendment discloses that the Proposed Amendment recreates the existing Game and Fresh Water Fish Commission with the same description of powers and limitations with the exception that the Proposed Amendment would expand the jurisdiction of the newly created Commission to include marine life in addition to freshwater aquatic life and require that the newly created Commission not be made **a** sub-unit of another state agency.

а

e

e

Details logically connected to the subject of the amendment which help define the implementation of the Proposed Amendment do not run afoul of the single-subject requirement. Advisory Opinion to the Attornev General re Limited Casinos, 644 So. 2d 71 (Fla, 1994); see also Floridians Against Casino Takeover, 363 So. 2d at 339; In re Advisory Opinion to the Attornev General--Homestead Valuation Limitation, 581 So. 2d 586, 588 (Fla, 1991). The provisions in paragraphs (a), (b), (d), and (e) concerning the purpose of the Commission, the appointment of the Commission members, the severability clause, and the effective date of the Proposed Amendment all provide details and elaboration that are logically connected to the singular purpose of the Proposed Amendment: the unification in one independent state agency of the regulatory and executive powers of the state with respect to aquatic and wild animal life.

The singularity of purpose of the Proposed Amendment confirms the complete absence of logrolling in the Initiative as it lacks separate components appealing to distinct constituencies. Thus the

Proposed Amendment poses no dilemma for voters wishing to approve only a portion of the Proposed Amendment. The Initiative is valid as it fully satisfies the single-subject requirement of Article XI, Section 3, Fla. Const.

B. <u>The Proposed Amendment Satisfies the Ballot Title and</u> <u>Summary Requirements of Section 101.161(1), Fla. Stat.</u>

a

The second issue before this Court is whether the Initiative satisfies the requirements of § 101.161(1), Fla. Stat. governing the content of the ballot title and summary, which statute provides in pertinent part:

[t]he substance of the amendment or other public measure shall be an explanatory statement, not exceeding 75 words in length, of the chief purpose of the measure. The ballot title shall consist of a caption, not exceeding 15 words in length, by which the measure is commonly referred to or spoken of.

The ballot title and summary must be accurate and informative so that the voter is not misled as to the chief purpose or the ramifications of the proposed amendment. <u>Tax Limitation</u>, 664 So. 2d at 490; <u>Smith v. American Airlines</u>, 606 So. 2d 618, 621 (Fla. 1992); <u>Stop Earlv Release of Prisoners</u>, 661 So. 2d at 1206. Additionally the language used must be objective and free from rhetoric. <u>Save Our Everslades</u>, 636 So. 2d at 1341.

The full text of the ballot title or caption is: **"Fish** and Wildlife Conservation Commission: Unifies Marine Fisheries and Game and Fresh Water Fish **Commissions."** The text of the ballot summary is as follows:

Summary: Unifies the Marine Fisheries Commission and the Game and Fresh Water Fish Commission to form the Florida

Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission; provides for Commission members and for Governor appointment and Senate confirmation thereof; authorizes the Commission to exercise executive and regulatory powers of the state pertaining to conservation of freshwater and marine aquatic life and wild animal life; allows for legislation in certain areas; provides for appropriations of license fees to Commission.

Plainly the ballot title and summary meet the word limits. The ballot title and summary are unambiguously clear and free of rhetoric in their statement of the chief purpose and effect of the Proposed Amendment and therefore satisfy the statutory requirements for placement on the ballot. <u>Stop Early Release of Prisoners</u>, 661 So. 2d at 1206.

CONCLUBION

e

The Proposed Amendment complies with the single-subject requirements as well as the ballot title and summary requirements as previously articulated by this Court. Consequently this Court should issue an advisory opinion certifying the validity of the Initiative and thereby allowing the voters to exercise their power as reserved to them by the Florida Constitution to decide whether to adopt the Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission amendment.

REQUEST FOR LEAVE TO PRESENT ORAL ARGUMENT

Florida Wildlife Federation, Florida Audubon Society, Florida League of Anglers, Coastal Conservation Association-Florida, Fish and Wildlife Conservation Committee, and Sierra Club, Florida Chapter request leave to present, through their undersigned counsel, oral testimony before this Court concerning the validity of the Proposed Amendment.

a

e

а

а

a

a

а

а

а

a RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 16th day of September, 1997.

1 May

Richard L. Blaylock Florida Bar No. 0086878 David G. Guest Florida Bar No. 0267228 EarthJustice Legal Defense Fund Post Office Box 1329 Tallahassee, FL 32302 (850) 681-0031

Attorneys for Florida Wildlife Federation, Florida Audubon Society, Florida League of Anglers, Sierra Club, Florida Chapter, Coastal Conservation Association-Florida, and Fish and Wildlife Conservation Committee

Curt Kiser Florida Bar No. 123700 Fish and Wildlife Conservation Committee 315 S. Calhoun, Suite 600 Tallahassee, FL 32301 (850) 425-5632

Attorney for Fish and Wildlife Conservation Committee

David Gluckman 541 Old Magnolia Road Crawfordsville, FL 32327 (850) 421-0152

Attorney for Florida League of Anglers

а