### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. **91,193** 

FILED

SID J. WHITE

Upon a Request from the
Attorney General for an
Advisory Opinion as to the
Validity of an Initiative Petition

OCT 6 1997#

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By
Chief Deputy Clerk

IN RE: ADVISORY OPINION
TO THE ATTORNEY GENERALFISH AND WILDLIFE CONSERVATION
COMMISSION

ANSWER BRIEF OF FLORIDA WILDLIFE FEDERATION,
FLORIDA AUDUBON SOCIETY, FLORIDA LEAGUE OF ANGLERS, COASTAL
CONSERVATION ASSOCIATION-FLORIDA, FISH AND WILDLIFE
CONSERVATION COMMITTEE, AND SIERRA CLUB, FLORIDA CHAPTER IN
SUPPORT OF FISH AND WILDLIFE
CONSERVATION COMMISSION INITIATIVE

Richard L. Blaylock
Florida Bar No. 0086878
David G. Guest

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The text of the proposed amendment, in its operative clauses describing the authority of the proposed Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission, closely mirrors the text of the present constitutional charter for the Game and Fresh Water Fish Commission. Consequently the proposed amendment if adopted would not disturb the authority of the Game and Fresh Water Fish Commission over wild animal life and fresh water aquatic life as it is reconstituted in the new commission. Rather the amendment would expand upon the existing model of the Game and Fresh Water Fish Commission by adding marine aquatic life to its purview without altering the nature of that governmental as it is transferred to the new Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission.

The ballot summary and title accurately and in adequate detail inform the voters of the chief purpose of the proposed amendment without ambiguity or being misleading. The arguments of the Southeastern Fisheries Association are not well founded since the alleged ambiguities in the scope of the effect of the amendment are not defects of the ballot summary but rather challenges to the meaning of the present text of Art. IV, Sect. 9, Fla. Const.

The Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission Initiative complies with the constitutional single-subject requirement as it possesses a logical and natural oneness of purpose and it does not

substantially alter or perform the functions of multiple branches
of government.

### ARGUMENT

Interested Parties, Florida Wildlife Federation, Florida

Audubon Society, Florida League of Anglers, Coastal Conservation

Association-Florida, Fish and Wildlife Conservation Committee, and

Sierra Club, Florida Chapter, by and through their undersigned

counsel herein answer the Initial Brief of Southeastern Fisheries

Association ("Opponents").

- I. BALLOT TITLE AND SUMMARY FOR THE FISH AND WILDLIFE CONSERVATION COMMISSION INITIATIVE COMPLY WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF \$101.161(1), FLA. STAT.
  - A. The Ballot Title and Summary Articulate the Initiative's Chief Purpose in Sufficient Detail

The ballot title and summary for a proposed amendment meet the requirements of \$101.161(1), Fla. Stat., if they are not misleading and provide the chief purpose of the proposed amendment, but they need not provide all of the possible consequences. Indeed this Court has previously explained the standard for compliance with \$101.161(1) as follows:

the ballot summary is not required to include all possible effects, nor to explain in detail what the proponents hope to accomplish. Rather it is sufficient that the ballot summary clearly and accurately sets forth the general rule to be

applied and informs the voters of the chief purpose of the proposal so that an informed decision is possible.

Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General Re Tax Limitation, 673 So. 2d 864 (Fla. 1996), quoting Grose v. Firestone, 422 So. 2d 303, 305 (Fla. 1982); Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General: English-The Official Language of Florida, 520 So. 2d 11, 13 (Fla. 1988).

Further elaborating on the limits of these requirements, this Court has opined that:

[w]e cannot accept the contention that the omission of certain details could reasonably be expected to mislead the voters. The seventy-five word limit placed on the ballot summary as required by statute does not lend itself to an explanation of all of a proposed amendment's details. Further, many of the details in the instant case could or would not be known unless and until the amendment is adopted and implemented.

Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General Re: Limited Casinos, 644
So. 2d 71, 75 (Fla. 1994). The ballot summary for the Fish and
Wildlife Conservation Commission Initiative clearly states the
chief purpose as the combination of the Marine Fisheries Commission
("MFC") and the Game and Fresh Water Fish Commission ("GFWFC") into
a single commission modeled after the GFWFC with authority over
wild animal life as well as marine and freshwater aquatic life
subject to certain reservations of power to the legislature. Thus
the Opponents' arguments are misplaced when they claim that the
Initiative's ballot summary is misleading for want of greater
detail of possible consequences of its adoption.

# B. <u>The Ballot Title and Summary Accurately and Fairly Inform</u> the Voters of the Scope of the Initiative

The use of the word "conservation" in the ballot title is not misleading as it is part of the name of the Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission whose creation is the express purpose of the proposed amendment. Nor is the use of the word "conservation" in the ballot summary's description of the powers of the proposed commission misleading as to the scope of that commission's prospective authority. The operative language describing the powers of the proposed commission in the initiative parallels the terms of the present provisions of Art. IV, Sect. 9, Fla. Const. so that the nature of the executive authority of the new commission would be functionally very similar to that of the present constitutionally chartered Game and Fresh Water Fish Commission.'

The deliberate drafting of the proposed amendment to parallel the operative language of the existing constitutional provision authorizing the present Game and Fresh Water Fish Commission

The provisions

The provisions of paragraphs (b)(l) and (c) of the proposed amendment duplicate the existing text of Art. IV, Sect. 9, Fla. Const. except for the following differences: 1) the scope of the new commission's authority is expanded to include marine aquatic life in addition to wild animal life and fresh water aquatic life, 2) the commission may not be made a sub-unit of another agency, 3) the number of commissioners is increased from five to seven, and 4) the name of the commission is changed to Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission.

plainly provides for the maximum continuity between the application of existing judicial and administrative precedents to the determination of the character of the proposed commission's authority. Thus, for example, the concentration of the present commission on matters related to conservation of game and fresh water fish as evidenced by the regulations of the commission despite the constitutional direction that the commission "shall exercise the regulatory and executive powers of the state with respect to wild animal life and fresh water aquatic life," shows that Opponents' complaint of a mismatch between the scope of the summary and the text of the amendment are not well-founded. Fla. Admin. Code, Title 39. Rather the summary is wholly consistent with the chief purpose and scope of the text of the proposed amendment. Indeed the conservation-focused purpose of the proposed commission is reinforced additionally by paragraph (a) of the proposed amendment which articulates the guiding policy that marine freshwater and wildlife resources be conserved and managed. Further paragraph (c) of the proposed amendment provides for certain appropriations to the Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission which are 'for the purpose of management, protection and conservation of wild animal life, freshwater aquatic life and marine aquatic life." Therefore the text of the proposed amendment authorizes a commission whose mission, function, and existing precedents are all consistent with the scope of authority described

in the ballot summary for the Initiative. Despite Opponents' assertions that the proposed amendment has a much wider scope than articulated in the ballot summary, opponents fail to identify any powers of the proposed commission that are not "pertaining to conservation."

Opponents' mischaracterize the effect of the proposed amendment by stating that it creates an entirely new commission. Rather it expands the scope of authority of the existing Game and Fresh Water Fish Commission by adding marine aquatic life to its purview without altering the constitutional language which has provided the basis of the Game and Fresh Water Fish Commission's authority over wild animal life and freshwater aquatic life for over fifty years. While the number of commissioners is increased the present game and fresh water fish commissioners would be commissioners for the new commission as well for the balance of their terms. Thus the amendment effects a modest increase in the scope of, but not the nature of, the authority of the game and fresh water fish commission in the renamed fish and wildlife conservation commission.

# C. The Ballot Summary is not Ambiguous Even if the Initiative Amends a Section of the Constitution with an Alleged Latent Ambiguity

The summary is not ambiguous because it does not define the term 'aquatic life." Indeed Art. IV, Sect. 9, Fla. Const., contains the term "aquatic life" in its designation of the scope of the authority of the Game and Fresh Water Fish Commission in language that is mirrored by the operative language of the proposed amendment. Opponents urge this Court to see ambiguity in the ballot summary on the basis of an alleged ambiguity already present in the Florida Constitution. The proposed amendment merely expands to marine aquatic life the type of authority already held by the GFWFC over fresh water aquatic life. the meaning of "aquatic life" in the proposed amendment tracks the existing judicial and administrative precedents for the interpretation of the term "aquatic life." To the extent that there remain any unresolved matters of interpretation of the term "aquatic life" as it appears in the present Florida Constitution, those questions are not properly before this Court as this Court's jurisdiction in this matter is limited to the narrow question of whether the ballot summary complies with the requirements of \$101.161(1), Fla. Stat. and the single subject requirement.

Opponents' arguments even lack internal consistency on the alleged ambiguity in the term "aquatic life" as it appears in the

proposed amendment. On one hand, they assert that the proposed amendment will give the Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission sole authority over aquatic plant life based on the provision that "the commission shall exercise the regulatory and executive powers of the state with respect to . . . freshwater aquatic life." However they also assert that 'neither the MFC nor the GFWFC have, nor have they ever had, authority to regulate aquatic plant life," Opponent's Initial Brief at 5, even though the GFWFC's constitutional grant of authority is based on the identical language, to wit: "the commission shall exercise the regulatory and executive powers of the state with respect to . . . fresh water life." Thus the proposed amendment does not alter the status quo with respect to existing legislative programs relating to nonmarine plant life as administered by the Department of Environmental Protection, pursuant to Chap 369, Fla. Stat., or by the Department of Agriculture, pursuant to Chap. 581, Fla. Stat. Thus the ballot summary is valid as it provides the chief purpose of the amendment without misleading the voters. Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General re: Prohibiting Public Funding of Political Candidates' Campaigns, 693 So. 2d 972, 975 (Fla. 1997).

Opponents argue that the summary fails to include a detailed list of present statutory provisions governing the operations of the MFC which might be abrogated by the proposed amendment upon enactment. However the validity of the ballot summary does not

require the detailing of all possible consequences of the amendment into the **75** word summary. Limited Casinos, 644 So. 2d at 75.

The ballot summary plainly describes the chief and sole purpose of the amendment, which is the combination of the MFC and the GFWFC into a single commission with powers paralleling those of the GFWFC in character but extending additionally to marine aquatic life. The summary accurately and fairly informs the voters of the purpose of the proposed amendment and therefore complies with the requirements of \$101.161(1), Fla. Stat. Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General — Fee on the Everglades Sugar Production, 681 So. 2d 1124, 1129 (Fla. 1996).

### II. THE AMENDMENT COMPLIES WITH THE SINGLE SUBJECT REQUIREMENT

The constitutional single subject requirement for initiative amendments to the Florida Constitution requires that the amendment have a natural oneness of purpose and not "substantially alter or perform the functions of multiple branches of government."

Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General - Save Our Everglades, 636

So. 2d 1336, 1339 (Fla. 1994); Prohibiting Public Funding of Political Campaigns, 693 So. 2d at 975. The proposed amendment manifestly passes the single-subject requirement as it has a

"natural oneness of purpose" and does not substantially impinge upon the functions of multiple branches of government. Id.

The proposed amendment effectively expands on the existing GFWFC without altering its present authority over wild animal life and freshwater aquatic life by extending the same constitutional grant of regulatory and executive authority to include, additionally, marine aquatic life. Hence the proposed amendment does not create an entirely new governmental entity but rather adjusts the jurisdictional fence outward for the present GFWFC to include regulatory and executive authority over marine aquatic life. This adjustment of the scope of authority of the GFWFC and the associated details of implementation cohere so as to exhibit a natural oneness of purpose and thereby satisfy the single-subject requirement. Id.

While the proposed amendment affects the operation of the executive branch of government, it does not substantially perform or alter the functions of the legislative or judicial branches unlike the failed Save Our Everglades Initiative. Save Our Everglades, 636 So. 2d at 1339-40. Opponent's reliance on Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General re People's Property Rights

Amendments, 1997 WL 251288(FLA.), is misplaced as that amendment concerned the regulation of land use and not wild animal life nor aquatic life. Additionally the division of authority between the legislature and the GFWFC over wild animal life and fresh water

aquatic life is already established in the Constitution and would be unchanged under the proposed amendment except to add marine aquatic life to the new commission's purview.

The proposed amendment has a plainly stated and summarized single subject in the rationalization of fish and wildlife management in the state through the consolidation of their regulation in a single executive agency of the Florida state government. As it demonstrates a natural oneness of purpose and a single subject the Initiative passes the single-subject requirement of Art. XI, Sec. 3, Fla. Const. <a href="Prohibiting Public Funding of Political Campaigns">Prohibiting Public Funding of Political Campaigns</a>, 693 So. 2d at 975.

#### CONCLUSION

The Proposed Amendment complies with the single-subject requirement as well as the ballot title and summary requirements as previously articulated by this Court. Consequently this Court should issue an advisory opinion certifying the validity of the Initiative and thereby allowing the voters to exercise their power as reserved to them by the Florida Constitution to decide whether to adopt the Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission amendment.